4 12,7.92

SID J. WHITE

AUG 20 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner

Vs.

CASE NO. 78,766

MARGARITA J. PALMA,

Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES W. MUSGROVE, ESQUIRE 2328 South Congress Avenue Congress Park - Suite 1D West Palm Beach, Florida 33406 407/968-8799 Florida Bar No. 095137

STEPHEN C. McALILEY, ESQUIRE 319 Clematis Street West Palm Beach, Florida 407/659-3700 Florida Bar No. 051769

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Counterplaintiff in an action arising from medical expenses in an automobile accident and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the Plaintiff, Counterdefendant and Appellee respectively. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "A" followed by a number will refer to the Appendix to this Brief. The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This cause began when Respondent was injured in an automobile accident and sought no fault benefits. Petitioner paid her medical bills, except for a thermography bill which it considered unnecessary.

The Trial Judge agreed with Petitioner that the procedure was unnecessary and refused to order payment. The Fourth District disagreed and reversed, <u>Palma v.</u>

<u>State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.</u>, 489 So.2d 147 (Fla. 4DCA 1986), rev.den. 496 So.2d 143.

Upon remand, the trial Court awarded attorney's fees for the trial and the appeal. Because the representation of Defendant was on a contingency basis, the Judge applied a multiplier of 2.6.

On appeal, Respondent challenged the amount of attorney's fees, but not the entitlement. The Fourth District affirmed, State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Palma, 524 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 4DCA 1988).

This Court granted Petitioner review, and approved the Fourth District's decision, State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Palma, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990).

Though this Court had just limited contingency multipliers to 2.5 in Standard

Guaranty Insurance Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1970), this Court did not

apply that decision to this case. This Court said:

"While the multiplier in this case exceeds the new range set forth in Quanstrom, we hold that it was applied properly in accordance with Rowe. The reduced multiplier range has only prospective application to attorney's fees determined after the date of the release of Quanstrom."

(555 So.2d at 838).

By separate order the Fourth District granted Respondent's motion for attorney's fees and remanded to the trial Court for determination of entitlement and amount. By separate order, this Court remanded Respondent's motion for attorney's fees to the trial Court for determination of entitlement and amount (R28).

The cause came on for hearing on attorney's fees on April 18, 1990 (R95). Petitioner raised issues relating to entitlement, modification of <u>Rowe</u>, and whether there should be a multiplier (R97). Respondent suggested that the Fourth District had already determined entitlement in its order (R98-99).

Attorney Alvarez indicated that his agreement with Respondent was that he would receive no fee unless he prevailed and he would accept whatever fee this Court awarded if he prevailed (R100)(A1). Attorney Klein testified that his agreement with Respondent was the same (R101)(A2).

Attorney Klein, who handled the case only in this Court, agreed that the only argument Petitioner presented in this Court was as to the amount of attorney's fees (R103)(A3). This included a challenge to the use of the multiplier (R104)(A4).

Philip Burlington testified that he considered the relevant market in this case to require a multiplier because it's a contingency case where there would be no recovery unless counsel prevailed, and because the amount in issue was so small there would be no way to recover from the gross recovery (R107-108). He also opined that there was no way to mitigate the risk of nonpayment, because the client had no resources (R108).

Burlington evaluated the chances of success as less than likely when attorney Alvarez took the case, and said the appropriate multiplier was the one initially used by the trial Court and approved on review (R110-111).

He also evaluated the chance of success as less than likely when attorney Klein entered the case in this Court because of a recent United States Supreme Court ruling casting doubt on the basis for the Rowe decision (R111-112).

Petitioner's objection that the chances of success at the start of the case were not relevant (R112) was sustained (R112-113). Burlington then testified that the chances of success were about even when the appeal begain on the issue of attorney's fees (R113). He reiterated that the same multiplier should be used again because the Fourth District did not distinguish between the trial and the appeal in affirming the fees for the underlying case (R113-114).

He testified that if the multiplier were to be revisited, it would be 2.0 under Rowe at the start of the attorney's fee appeal (R114), or 1.6 under Quanstrom (R114-115). He fixed the multiplier for the review in this Court at 2.6 under Rowe and 2.2 under Quanstrom (R115).

On cross-examination, Burlington acknowledged that attorney Alvarez was on the side of the Respondent in this Court and the Appellee in the FourthDistrict on review of the attorney's fees. He conceded that one in ten cases gets reversed (R116-117). He also conceded that the risk of not collecting the earlier fees went to zero when Petitioner's supersedeas bond could not be renewed after the Fourth District's affirmance and Alvarez was paid in full (R118). He conceded again that the risk factor had changed (R118-119).

Burlington did not claim that the Judge had to apply any multiplier (R120). He conceded that the Judge could refuse to do so (R121).

By Final Judgment dated August 22, 1990, the trial Judge awarded attorney Alvarez \$90,002.25, attorney Klein \$22,750 and attorney Burlington \$900.00, for a total of \$113,652.25. In fixing the amounts due to Alvarez and Klein, he applied the same 2.6 multiplier fixed for the earlier award. He called it the law of the case (R82-84).

Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing (R85-91) was denied September 10 (R92). By Notice of Appeal filed September 13 (R93-94), Petitioner sought review of the Final Judgment assessing attorney's fees.

On that latest appeal, Petitioner challenged Respondent's entitlement to attorneys' fees for the attorneys' fee appellate review under <u>Cincinnati Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Palmer</u>, 297 So.2d 96 (Fla. 4DCA 1974), because no portion of the attorney's fees awarded for that appeal and that discretionary review were to be paid over to Respondent. Petitioner also challenged what appeared to be mandatory use of a multiplier because the trial Judge thought he was bound by the law of the case, and the use of a multiplier which exceeded the range approved by this Court.

The District Court noted the conflicting decisions as to entitlement to attorneys' fees for litigating attorneys' fees. It declared this case distinguishable from <u>Cincinnati</u>, because Petitioner allegedly never voluntarily paid or offered to pay attorney's fees. It declared attorney's fees recoverable under Section 627.428 Fla.Stat. even where only attorney's fees are still at issue.

The District Court also rejected the argument that the trial Judge thought the multiplier mandatory, but reversed the award with directions to reduce the multiplier. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Palma, 585 So.2d 329 (Fla. 4DCA 1991). (A9-18)

By separate order, the District Court granted Respondent's motion for attorney's fees for the instant appeal (A5).

Petitioner timely sought rehearing, rehearing en banc or certification of conflict(A6-7). The motion was denied September 10, 1991 (A8).

By notice filed October 9, 1991, Petitioner sought discretionary review in this Court. By order of July 21, 1992, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The contingent fee contract here provides that counsel will accept whatever the Court awards as his fee, will not look to the client for payment of any fee, and will not pay any portion of the fee to the client. With such a contract, any service to the client is over after the underlying dispute is resolved. There is no reason in law or fact for an award of attorney's fees for time the attorneys spend litigating the amount of attorney's fees for resolving the underlying dispute (as opposed to entitlement). That is the view of the Second District Court of Appeal, but not the view of the Fourth, as reflected in the instant ruling. This Court should resolve the conflict of decisions by adopting the decision of the Second as correct and quashing the decision of the Fourth.

This Court has repeatedly held in other settings that an award of attorney's fees may not include time spent litigating over the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded. The same principle should apply here regardless of the nature of the contingency contract, and compels a finding that the Second District is right and the Fourth District is wrong.

As a result, all of the attorney's fees to be awarded under the Fourth District's ruling should be disallowed. If this Court disagrees for any reason, it should still disapprove the District Court decision and order the Court to direct the trial Judge to reconsider whether any multiplier was appropriate. This is required because the trial Judge thought he was bound by the law of the case to apply a 2.6 multiplier. Not only was that multiplier excessive, as the Fourth District holds, but it was no longer a mandatory multiplier. There was good reason not to apply any multiplier to the second set of appeals, because the factors had changed. There is good reason to doubt that the trial Judge knew he had discretion not to apply any multiplier.

POINTS INVOLVED

- I. WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES MAY BE AWARDED TO THE INSURED'S ATTORNEYS FOR THEIR EFFORTS TO PRESERVE THEIR OWN PRIOR ATTORNEY'S FEES, PARTICULARLY WHERE NO PORTION OF THOSE FEES INURE TO THE BENEFIT OF THE INSURED?
- II. WHETHER THE USE OF A MULTIPLIER ON THE ATTORNEY'S FEES
 AWARDED TO RESPONDENT'S ATTORNEYS SHOULD HAVE BEEN
 REVERSED BECAUSE THE TRIAL JUDGE THOUGHT THE MULTIPLIER WAS
 THE LAW OF THE CASE?

ARGUMENT

I. ATTORNEY'S FEES MAY NOT BE AWARDED TO THE INSURED'S ATTORNEYS FOR THEIR EFFORTS TO PRESERVE THEIR OWN PRIOR ATTORNEY'S FEES, PARTICULARLY WHERE NO PORTION OF THOSE FEES INURE TO THE BENEFIT OF THE INSURED

The big issue is whether attorney's fees may be awarded to the prevailing party for the time spent litigating over attorney's fees. The narrower issue is whether any entitlement to attorney's fees in an insurance case like this ceases when the underlying claim has been paid and no portion of the disputed attorney's fee will inure to the benefit of the insured.

On the narrow issue, the Second District continues to deny attorney's fees to attorneys who are litigating attorney's fees solely for their own benefit.

In State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Moore, 597 So.2d 805 at 807

(Fla. 2DCA 1992), the Court reversed so much of the award as related to time spent litigating attorney's fees. The Court followed its own decisions in U.S. Security

Insurance Company v. Cole, 579 So.2d 153 (Fla. 2DCA 1991), B&L Motors v. Bignotti, 427 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 2DCA 1983) and Service Insurance Company v. Gulf Steel Corporation, 412 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2DCA 1982).

Initially, the Second District's view was shared by the Fourth District. In <u>Cincinnati Insurance Company v. Palmer</u>, supra, the Court analyzed a similar contingent fee contract and found no entitlement to an award of fees after services to the client had ceased with the payment of the underlying policy proceeds. Though the District Court purports to distinguish this case from <u>Cincinnati</u>, supra, the

effort is unconvincing. The ruling in <u>Cincinnati</u> does not turn on how long the insurer fought over the underlying policy. The length of that battle affects the amount awarded to Respondent's attorneys for the first round of litigation, but Respondent's expert had to concede that her attorney was adequately rewarded for the initial trial and appeal when he received over \$250,000 (R116).

<u>Cincinnati</u>, supra, was decided on the basis of the contract between the insured and the insurer, and in that regard, this case is indistinguishable from <u>Cincinnati</u>, supra. Thus, the decision in this case aligns the Fourth District with the First and Third. So does <u>Pirretti v. Dean Witter Reynolds</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 578 So.2d 474 (Fla. 4DCA 1991), in which the Fourth District affirmed an award of attorney's fees for time spent litigating over attorney's fees.

Though some members of this Court seem reluctant to take this case, this Court should answer the prayer for help contained in the Fourth District's certified question in <u>Pirretti v. Dean Witter Reynolds</u>, supra. It should resolve the conflicts acknowledged by the Second District in <u>U.S. Security Insurance Company v. Cole</u>, supra. And, when it does so, this Court should adopt the decisions of the Second District as correct.

It is axiomatic that awards of attorney's fees are in derogation of the common law and statutes awarding such fees must be strictly construed, <u>Sunbeam Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc. v. Upthegrove</u>, 316 So.2d 34 at 37 (Fla. 1975), <u>Service Insurance Company v. Gulf Steel Corporation</u>, supra, 412 So.2d at 968. Where, as here, the underlying policy dispute has been resolved, the reason for awarding attorney's fees under the statute ceases, particularly where, as here, the insured has no obligation to pay her attorneys those fees and no portion of those fees will be paid to her.

The pertinent statute in our case is that set out at footnote 2 of this Court's State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Palma, supra, 555 So.2d at 837. Section 627.428(1) Fla.Stat. (1983) provided:

Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit for which the recovery is had.

The prosecution of the suit for which the recovery was had was over after stage one of the appeals. Petitioner never denied that Respondent's attorneys were entitled to be paid for the prosecution of that suit; the only argument was as to the amount. Strict construction of this statute does not permit the award of attorney's fees for the second set of appeals in this cause.

Most litigants do not recover attorney's fees from their adversary unless the underlying action is deemed frivolous, and no one has yet accused Petitioner of pursuing frivolous litigation in this case. Where attorneys are litigating over attorney's fees for their own account, there is no reason in law or fact to make the adversary pay for their services to themselves.

This Court has never addressed the narrow issue, but it has addressed the larger question in other settings. May there be recovery of attorney's fees for litigating over attorney's fees.

It is instructive to note the language in Section 501.2105(2) Fla.Stat. (1979). Though it includes "all the motions, hearings and appeals", the Second District limited recovery to fees in which the client has an interest, <u>B&L Motors</u>, <u>Inc. v. Bignotti</u>, supra.

Attorney's fees for litigating over attorney's fees have consistently been denied in worker's compensation cases. See e.g. <u>Crittenden Orange Blossom</u>

<u>Fruit v. Stone</u>, 514 So.2d 351 at 353 (Fla. 1987), <u>Dobbs v. Suncoast Acoustics</u>,

590 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1DCA 1991).

The same rule applies in municipal indemnification cases (Section 111.07 Fla.Stat.) according to Thornber v. City of Fort Walton Beach, 568 So.2d 914 at 919 (Fla. 1990), and in estate cases according to In re Estate of Platt, 586 So.2d 328 at 336 (Fla. 1991).

If this Court meant what it said in cases like <u>Platt</u>, supra, <u>Crittenden</u>, supra, and <u>Thornber</u>, supra, it would do a great service to the bench and bar of this State by spelling out the rule for all such litigation. However, whether it addresses the big issue or the narrow issue, this Court should disapprove the award of attorney's fees in this case and quash the decision of the Fourth District approving the award as modified. It should also quash the order of the District Court of Appeal awarding attorney's fees for the most recent appeal, presently under review, for exactly the same reasons.

In asking this Court to effectively reverse the attorney's fees approved for Respondent's attorneys, Petitioner is aware that the Fourth District thought its prior order granting Respondent's motion for attorney's fees had become the law of the case.

The doctrine of law of the case never bound the District Court to approve the attorney's fees awarded here, not even the portion applicable to services in the District Court. This Court's <u>Strazzulla v. Hendrick</u>, 177 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1965) authorized the Fourth District to recede from its prior, erroneous ruling.

The doctrine certainly does not bind this Court, since it has never passed on the issue of entitlement in this case. To the contrary, its order remanded the issue of entitlement to the trial Court. As the Fourth District acknowledged, at least a portion of the attorney's fees awarded were not covered by it's own prior order. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Palma, supra, 585 So.2d at 330-331. That portion, for services in this Court, clearly should be reversed if this Court accepts Petitioner's view on attorney's fees for litigating over attorney's fees.

If this Court adopts the view of the Second District, or applies its own Platt, Crittenden and Thornber decisions to this issue, it will eliminate the underlying basis for applying the law of the case at all here. This Court will change the law, and that is a recognized basis to recede from the law of the case, Hendrick v. Strazzulla, supra, 3M Electric Corporation v. Vizoa, 443 So.2d 111 at 112-113 (Fla. 3DCA 1983).

If this Court holds that attorney's fees are not recoverable for litigating attorney's fees, the law must allow the entire award in this to be reversed, or there is something wrong with the law.

ARGUMENT

II. THE USE OF A MULTIPLIER ON THE ATTORNEY'S FEES

AWARDED TO RESPONDENT'S ATTORNEYS SHOULD HAVE BEEN

REVERSED BECAUSE THE TRIAL JUDGE THOUGHT THE MULTIPLIER

WAS THE LAW OF THE CASE

Because this Court has accepted jurisdiction in this case, the entire case is now before this Court for review, <u>Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad</u>

<u>Company</u>, 130 So.2d 580 at 585 (Fla. 1961). Petitioner urges this Court to review an additional issue.

Under Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145

(Fla. 1985) a multiplier was mandatory in a contingency fee case such as this. In Quanstrom, supra, which preceded the award presently under review, this Court made application of a multiplier optional. Respondent's expert conceded in his testimony that the Judge was not required to apply any multiplier (R121).

That the change from a mandatory multiplier to a discretionary multiplier does apply retroactively is beyond dispute. It was applied in <u>Department of Administration</u>, Office of State Employees' Insurance v. Ganson, 566 So.2d 791 (Fla. 1990) to quash a determination that a multiplier was mandatory on fee approval which preceded Quanstrom by "a few weeks" (566 So.2d at 792).

Petitioner recognizes that <u>Quanstrom</u> gives the Judge discretion to apply a multiplier. The problem with what the Judge did here lies in his erroneous view that the prior award is the law of the case. He felt he had to apply the same 2.6 multiplier. Since he felt bound by the prior numerical multiplier it seems certain he did not recognize that he had discretion not to apply it at all.

There is good reason not to blindly continue to apply a multiplier to the second stage appeals. The underlying chances of success and risks of nonpayment had changed dramatically.

At the start of the first appeal, Respondent's attorneys represented the Appellant. They had to overcome the presumption of correctness. They could not obtain any fees unless they won because their client had no funds.

At the start of the second set of appeals, they represented the Appellee. The burden of overcoming the presumption of correctness had shifted to Petitioner.

As Respondent's expert conceded, only one in ten appeals results in reversal (R117).

Moreover, Respondent's attorneys were assured of collecting their fees prior to the second set of appeals. They were litigating against a solvent insurance company which did not contest their entitlement to fees, only the amount.

These are among the critical factors which should have guided the Judge in deciding whether any multiplier was required after Quanstrom, supra.

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