IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 78,766

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 10 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

MARGARITA J. PALMA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RONALD V. ALVAREZ, P.A.
1801 Australian Avenue, South
Suite #101
West Palm Beach, FL 33409
(407) 686-2222
and
LARRY KLEIN, of
KLEIN & WALSH, P.A.
Suite 503 - Flagler Center
501 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 659-5455

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

Finally, in Gagne v. Maher, 594 F.2d 336, 344 (2d Cir. 1979), petition for cert. filed, U.S. ___, 100 S.Ct. 44, 62 L.Ed.2d 30 (1979), the court found the district court had erred in excluding from consideration time spent establishing the fees claim. The court found further support for its decision in the fact that the Senate Report for amendment of s 1988 had cited with approval a district court decision, Stanford Daily v. Zurcher, 64 F.R.D. 680, 683-684 (N.D.Cal. 1974), Aff'd, 550 F.2d 464 (9th Cir. 1977), Rev'd on other grounds, 436 U.S. 547, 98 S.Ct. 1970, 56 L.Ed.2d 525 (1978), which held that denying fees for time spent obtaining fees would " 'dilute the value of a fees award by forcing attorneys into extensive, uncompensated litigation in order to gain any fees.' " 594 F.2d at 344. See S.Rep. No. 94-1011, 94th Cong., 2d Sess. 5, 6, Reprinted in (1976) U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News, pp. 5908, 5913.

Two more circuits, the District of Columbia and Seventh Circuits, have, without elaboration, ordered that a fee award include an amount for time spent on the fee claim.

Moten v. Bricklayers, Masons & Plasterers
International Union, 177 U.S.App.D.C. 77, 93, 543 F.2d 224, 240 (D.C. Cir. 1976); Hairston v. R & R Apartments, 510 F.2d 1090, 1093 (7th Cir. 1975).

* * *

The Eleventh Circuit has also held that attorney's fees should be awarded for time spent pursuing prevailing party attorney's fees in civil rights cases. <u>Jonas v. Stack</u>, 758 F.2d 567 (11th Cir. 1985).

State Farm recognizes that this court has not addressed this issue of whether attorney's fees are recoverable for litigating attorney's fees awarded under Section 627.428(1), Florida Statutes (1983). State Farm argues that this court should follow its prior opinions in which it denied attorney's fees incurred in collecting attorney's fees under different facts and different law. Those three cases are In re Estate of Platt, 586 So.2d 328 (Fla. 1991), Thornber v. City of Ft. Walton Beach, 568 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1990), and Crittenden Orange Blossom Fruit v. Stone, 514 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1987). The claims for attorney's fees in those cases were so different from the claim in the present case as to make those cases of little persuasive value.

In <u>Platt</u>, <u>supra</u>, the main issue was the method of computation of attorney's fees and personal representative fees in estates. Fees awarded to lawyers and personal representatives in estates are not prevailing party attorney's fees. They are not awarded under a statute passed by the legislature which is intended to discourage certain conduct, such as the unreasonable refusal of an insurer to pay a claim to its own insured. The attorney's fees and personal representative fees in estates are borne by beneficiaries or creditors who have little or no control over work performed by the personal representative or counsel. Thus, this court's statement on page 336 of <u>Platt</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the hours expended by counsel in collecting his fee were not compensable, should not control the outcome in this case.

This court gave no explanation for its statement in Platt that time spent in collecting fees is not compensable, other than to cite Crittenden Orange Blossom Fruit v. Stone, supra. Crittenden is a worker's compensation case in which this court noted that the worker's compensation that law at time placed "primary responsibility for the claimant's attorney's fees on the claimant", but that the claimant should not have to absorb the cost of paying his attorney because the claim was denied in bad faith. This court then stated:

> Our holding does not extend, however, to cover the time spent by the attorney in establishing the amount of the fee such as that involved in the third hearing in this case. <u>Id.</u>, at 353.

A significant distinction between the present case and <u>Platt</u> and <u>Crittenden</u>, supra, is that in <u>Platt</u> and <u>Crittenden</u>, counsel was seeking compensation for the time spent in proving up attorney's fees in the trial court. In contrast, in the present case, State Farm is contesting paying attorney's fees for appeals, in which State Farm was the appellant, appealing orders awarding attorney's fees. Normally, proving up attorney's fees in the trial court is a very minor aspect of litigation and only takes a small proportion of the time spent by counsel on the entire case. In the present case the hours spent on all of State Farm's appeals of orders awarding fees may well exceed the time expended establishing the claim in the trial court.

The only other opinion of this court relied on by State Farm is <u>Thornber</u>, <u>supra</u>, in which city council members, who had to expend fees defending themselves, were seeking <u>reimbursement</u> from the city under a statute which allowed reimbursement to council members in actions brought against council members by third parties. This court stated on pages 919 and 920:

Even though the council members are entitled to reimbursement for attorney's fees incurred in the recall election and in the federal civil rights action, they are not entitled to attorney's fees in their efforts to collect those fees. They claim such a right under section 57.105. The purpose of this statute is to discourage baseless claims, stonewall defenses, and sham appeals in civil litigation by placing a price tag through attorney's fee awards on losing parties who engage in these activities. <u>Whitten v.</u> Progressive Casualty Insurance Co., 410 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1982). While the statute serves a salutary purpose, it may not be extended to every case and every unsuccessful litigant. City of Deerfield Beach v. Oliver-Hoffman Corp., 396 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 407 So.2d 1104 (Fla. 1981). The city's defense of the council members' claim did not completely lack a justiciable issue of either law or fact so as to allow them to recover fees against the city under section 57.105.

The obvious distinction between <u>Thornber</u> and the present case is that in <u>Thornber</u> the city was reimbursing its council members for attorney's fees which they incurred in suits brought against them. They were not prevailing party attorney's fees provided by statute, nor were the fees being paid by the party that caused the litigation. In addition, the attorney's fees were being paid out of public funds.

Thus, it is clear that none of this court's prior opinions, denying attorney's fees for litigating attorney's fees, involved a statute such as 627.428(1), Florida Statutes (1983), which provided:

Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit for which the recovery is had.

This statute singles out a particular class, insureds or beneficiaries of insurance policies, and provides that where the insured or beneficiary prevails, the courts must award attorney's fees. In <u>Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Battaglia</u>, 503 So.2d 358 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), the court stated on page 360:

The purpose of section 627.428 is to penalize a carrier for wrongfully causing its insured to resort to litigation to resolve a conflict when it was reasonably within the carrier's power to do so.

The Third District recently summarized existing law and cogently explained why the insurer should be responsible for paying attorney's fees in similar circumstances, in <u>Sonara v. Star Casualty Insurance Company</u>, 17 FLW D1897, D1898 (Fla. 3d DCA August 11, 1992), wherein the court stated:

...the purpose of such an award under Section 627.428(10), is "to discourage the 'contesting'

of insurance policies and to reimburse successful insureds reasonably for outlays for attorney's fees, when they are compelled to defend or sue to defend their contracts." Florida Rock & Tank Lines, Inc. v. Continental Ins. Co., 399 So.2d 122, 124 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). This public policy would clearly be defeated if the insurer is able, as urged, to contest the insured's claim for attorney's fees under the insurance contract and yet avoid any liability for attorney's fees is prosecuting that claim.

Moreover, we think the insurer should be required to pay for such fees regardless of whether the insured has a technical interest in such fees when the award is made, which fees upon collection would be turned over to the insured's attorney - or whether, in lieu of this procedure, the insured has relinquished any interest in the fees to his/her attorney prior to the collection of same as a means of retaining the attorney to prosecute the suit under a contingency contract. Under either arrangement, contractual the (1) clearly has a substantial interest in his/her attorney's fee claim as this claim is used as a basis for retaining the attorney in the first instance, and (2) the attorney, in any event, ultimately receives the award. This being so, we reject the rule of the First and Second Districts that absolves the insurer of any liability to pay these fees where it is shown that the insured has turned over his interest in the fees to his/her attorney by the time the award is made as a means of initially retaining the attorney. [Cit.om.]

If statutes such as Section 627.428 are to be given the effect intended by the legislature, courts should not be stripped of their authority to award attorney's fees, for litigating attorney's fees. Each case should be decided on its particular facts and the legal basis on which the prevailing party is entitled to attorney's fees. In a case relied on by State Farm, Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Palmer,

297 So.2d 96 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), the insured brought suit on a fire insurance policy, and three months after suit was filed the insurer voluntarily paid the insured the full amount in dispute plus \$500 in attorney's fees. At that time insured's counsel had spent 30 hours litigating. Insured's counsel then expended another 200 hours litigating his attorney's fees, and the Fourth District held that since the insurer had voluntarily paid the claim early in the litigation, the fee awarded for 230 hours work, 200 of which occurred after payment of the claim, was excessive and had to be reduced.

In contrast, in the present case, State Farm has never voluntarily paid one cent until it ran out of appeals or stays. Both the Fourth District and this court have recognized that State Farm elected to "go to the mat" on the merits of the claim. State Farm likewise elected to "go to the mat" over attorney's fees. If this court awards attorney's fees for services rendered in the case now before it, State Farm will probably appeal that order setting such fees, once it is entered by the trial court.

There should be no hard and fast rule either requiring or prohibiting the award of attorney's fees for litigating attorney's fees, recoverable by statute or contract. An award of attorney's fees for litigating the issue of attorney's fees should be discretionary, depending on the legal basis for the attorney's fee award (statute, contract, etc.), who is paying (insurer,

government, individual), the facts and issues of the case, whether the case is being over-litigated, and by whom. This court's statement in its prior opinion in <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Palma</u>, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990), in answer to State Farm's contention that the small amount of the claim did not justify the large attorney's fees, is also appropriate to the issue presented here:

* * *

...the amount involved is not a significant factor in this cause due to the extraordinary circumstances. This is an illustration of the need for flexibility to allow for this type of unique and rare case, especially where the prevailing party has not been the primary cause of the extensive litigation. <u>Id.</u>, at 838.

When, as the result of the litigiousness of the party who is liable for payment of an attorney fee award, the attorney's fees aspect of a lawsuit becomes the tail that wags the dog, courts should be given the discretion to award fees. If there ever existed a case in which attorney's fees should be awarded for litigating attorney's fees, it is respectfully submitted that this is the case.

2. The entitlement to attorney's fees in this case has already been established as the law of the case.

The attorney's fees at issue herein were awarded for services rendered in prior appeals. The first award was made pursuant to an order awarding fees by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, when that court issued the opinion in State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Palma, 524 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). State Farm sought and obtained review of that opinion in this court. The result was this court's opinion in State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Palma, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990). In that proceeding, State Farm did not challenge or seek review of the order of the Fourth District which awarded attorney's fees for services rendered on the appeal. Thus, State Farm had the opportunity to raise the issue of whether attorney's fees could be awarded for litigating attorney's fees, the last time it was before this court, and did not do so. This court then granted the insured's motion for attorney's fees and remanded for the trial court to determine entitlement and amounts.

State Farm's liability for attorney's fees, for litigating attorney's fees, has already thus been established. It is the law of the case. The Fourth District recognized this in its most recent opinion:

* * *

...insofar as the award pertains to attorney's fees for services rendered in this court upon the prior appeal, the issue of entitlement is no longer open to question but constitutes the law of the case. This is true because in the earlier appeal we granted the motion for attorneys' fees, leaving open only the amount to be determined by the trial court. The issue of fees for services in the supreme court is not disposed of so readily because the supreme court's order remanded to determine both entitlement and amount. 585 So.2d at 330-331.

It is respectfully submitted that the Fourth District should have concluded that the law of the case governed all subsequent attorneys' fees awards in this case.

In <u>Strazzulla v. Hendrick</u>, 177 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1965), this court stated on page 2:

Early in the jurisprudence of this state it was established that all points of law adjudicated upon a former writ of error or appeal became "the law of the case" and that such points were "no longer open for discussion or consideration" in subsequent proceedings in the case. ...

In <u>Tillman v. Smith</u>, 560 So.2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), a second appeal involving statutory attorney's fees, as is the present case, the appellant was attempting to challenge the formula used to calculate the fee, which had been determined by the trial court before the first appeal. In holding that the formula could not now be challenged, the Fifth District stated on page 560:

The "law of the case" doctrine that unappealed points become the law of the case is described in <u>Marine Midland Bank Central v. Cote</u>, 384 So.2d 658 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980):

The parties have the right to appeal any matter by which they may be aggrieved and their failure to do so acts as an acceptance of the propriety of the matter. If no appeal is taken on one point but the case is appealed on another point, then the first point becomes "law of the case" and upon a reversal that law of the case remains correct and cannot be revisited.

<u>Id.</u> at 659 (emphasis added). Since neither party appealed the manner in which fees were

calculated in the hearing leading to the decision in <u>Tillman</u>, the formula became the law of the case and should have been used by the trial court to award attorneys fees on the earlier remand by this court. (Emphasis in original)

Since State Farm did not seek review in this court of attorney's fees awarded by the Fourth District in <u>Palma</u>, 524 So.2d 1035, the award of attorney's fees for litigating attorney's fees became the law of the case at that point in time, and should govern all future proceedings.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN USING A MULTIPLIER IN DETERMINING THE AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES?

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